

## Risk Factors Comparison 2025-02-20 to 2024-02-22 Form: 10-K

Legend: **New Text** ~~Removed Text~~ Unchanged Text **Moved Text** Section

The Company's business and financial results are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those set forth below and in other documents filed with the SEC. The factors and other matters discussed herein are important factors that could cause actual results or outcomes for the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements included elsewhere in this document. If any of the risks described below actually occur, the Company's business, prospects, financial condition or financial results could be materially harmed. The following are the most material risk factors applicable to the Company and are not necessarily listed in order of importance or probability of occurrence. **Separation Risks** **The proposed separation of MDU..... financial condition and results of operations.** Economic Risks The Company is subject to government regulations that may have a negative impact on its business and its results of operations and cash flows. Statutory and regulatory requirements also may limit another party's ability to acquire the Company or impose conditions on an acquisition of or by the Company. The Company's ~~electric and natural gas transmission and distribution~~ businesses are subject to comprehensive regulation by federal, state and local regulatory agencies with respect to, among other things, allowed rates of return and recovery of investments and costs; financing; rate structures; customer service; health care coverage and costs; taxes; franchises; recovery of fuel, purchased power and purchased natural gas costs; and construction and siting of generation and transmission facilities. These governmental regulations significantly influence the Company's operating environment and may affect its ability to recover costs from its customers. The Company is unable to predict the impact on operating results from future regulatory activities of any of these agencies. Changes in regulations or the imposition of additional regulations could have an adverse impact on the Company's results of operations and cash flows. There can be no assurance that applicable regulatory commissions will determine that the Company's ~~electric and natural gas transmission and distribution businesses'~~ costs have been prudent, which could result in the disallowance of costs in setting rates for customers. Also, the regulatory process of approving rates for these businesses may not allow for timely and full recovery of the costs of providing services or a return on the Company's invested capital. Changes in regulatory requirements or operating conditions may require early retirement of certain assets. While regulation typically provides rate recovery for these retirements, there is no assurance regulators will allow full recovery of all remaining costs, which could leave stranded asset costs. Rising fuel costs could increase the risk that the utility businesses will not be able to fully recover those fuel costs from customers. Approval from federal and state regulatory agencies would be needed for acquisition of the Company, as well as for certain acquisitions by the Company. The approval process could be lengthy and the outcome uncertain, which may deter potential acquirers from approaching the Company or impact the Company's ability to pursue acquisitions. Economic volatility affects the Company's operations, as well as the demand for its products and services. ~~Unfavorable economic conditions can negatively affect the level of public and private expenditures on projects and the timing of these projects which, in turn, can negatively affect demand for the Company's products and services, primarily at the Company's construction business. The level of demand for construction services could be adversely impacted by the economic conditions in the industries the Company serves, as well as in the general economy. State and federal budget issues affect the funding available for infrastructure spending.~~ Economic conditions and population growth affect the electric and natural gas distribution businesses' growth in service territory, customer base and usage demand. Economic volatility in the markets served, along with economic conditions such as increased unemployment which could impact the ability of the Company's customers to make payments, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations, cash flows and asset values. Further, any material decreases in customers' energy demand, for economic or other reasons, could have an adverse impact on the Company's earnings and results of operations. **18** MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K ~~21~~ **Index** **Part I** The Company's operations involve risks that may result from catastrophic events. The Company's operations ; ~~particularly those related to electric and natural gas transmission and distribution,~~ include a variety of inherent hazards and operating risks, such as product leaks; explosions; mechanical failures; vandalism; fires; **wildfires**; pandemics; social or civil unrest; protests and riots; natural disasters; cyberattacks; acts of terrorism; and acts of war. These hazards and operating risks ~~have occurred and may reoccur~~ **occur** in the future, which could result in loss of human life; personal injury; property damage; environmental impacts; impairment of operations; and substantial financial losses. The Company maintains insurance against some, but not all, of these risks and losses. A significant incident could also increase regulatory scrutiny and result in penalties and higher amounts of capital expenditures and operational costs. Losses not fully covered by insurance could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. A disruption of the regional electric transmission grid, local distribution infrastructure or interstate natural gas infrastructure could negatively impact the Company's business and reputation. There have been cyber and physical attacks within the energy industry on energy infrastructure, such as substations, and such attacks may occur in the future. Because the Company's electric and natural gas utility and pipeline systems are part of larger interconnecting systems, any attacks on the interconnected systems or the Company's infrastructure causing a disruption could result in a significant decrease in revenues and an increase in system repair costs negatively impacting the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The Company **'s insurance policies have limits and exclusions that may not fully mitigate losses, and an increase in cost, or the unavailability or cancellation of third- party insurance coverages, would increase the Company's overall risk exposure. The Company maintains insurance coverages from third party insurers as part of its overall risk management strategy and most of its customer contracts require the Company to maintain specific insurance coverage limits. The Company maintains insurance policies with respect to workers' compensation, auto liability, general liability, excess liability, contractors pollution**

liability, legal liability, professional liability, directors and officers liability, employment practices liability, cyber policy, terrorism, property and other types of coverages, but these policies are subject to deductibles and the Company is self-insured up to the amount of those deductibles. Insurance losses are accrued based upon the Company's estimates of the ultimate liability for claims reported and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported. Insurance liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due to unknown factors, including the frequency and severity of injuries, the magnitude of damage to or loss of property or the environment, the determination of the Company's liability in proportion to other parties, estimates of incidents not reported and the effectiveness of the Company's safety programs, and as a result, the Company's actual losses may exceed its estimates. There can be no assurance that the Company's current or past insurance coverages will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances or against all claims and liabilities, including claims resulting from wildfires or other natural disasters, to which the Company may be subject. The Company generally renews its insurance policies on an annual basis; therefore, deductibles and levels of insurance coverages may change in future periods. There can be no assurance that any of the Company's existing insurance coverages will be renewed upon the expiration of the coverage period or that future coverage will be available at reasonable and competitive rates or at the required limits. The cost of the Company's insurance has significantly increased over time and may continue to increase in the future. In addition, insurers may fail, cancel the Company's coverage, increase the cost of coverage, determine to exclude certain items from coverage, or otherwise be unable to provide the Company with adequate insurance coverage. The Company may not be able to obtain certain types of insurance or incremental levels of insurance in scope or amount sufficient to cover liabilities it may incur. For example, due to the increase in wildfire losses and related insurance claims, insurers have reduced coverage availability and increased the cost of insurance coverage for such events in recent years, and the Company's current levels of coverage may not be sufficient to cover potential losses. If the Company's risk exposure increases as a result of adverse changes in its insurance coverage, the Company could be subject to increased liabilities that could negatively affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, the Company performs work in hazardous environments and its employees are exposed to a number of hazards. Incidents can occur, regardless of fault, that may be catastrophic and adversely impact the Company's employees and third parties by causing serious personal injury, loss of life, damage to property or the environment, and interruption of operations. In locations or environments where claims have become more frequent or severe in recent years, insurance may become difficult or impossible to obtain. The Company's contracts may require it to indemnify its customers, project owners and other parties for injury, damage or loss arising out of the Company's presence at its customers' location, or in the performance of the Company's work, in both cases regardless of fault, and provide for warranties of materials and workmanship. The Company also may be required to name the customer and others as an additional insured party under its insurance policies. The Company maintains limited insurance coverage against these and other risks associated with its business. This insurance may not protect the Company against liability for certain events, and the Company cannot guarantee that its insurance will be adequate in risk coverage or policy limits to cover all losses or liabilities that it may incur. Any future damages caused by the Company's services that are not covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits could negatively affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K 19 The Company is subject to capital market, debt and interest rate risks. The Company's operations, particularly its electric and natural gas transmission and distribution businesses, require significant capital investment. Consequently, the Company relies on financing sources and capital markets as sources of liquidity for capital requirements not satisfied by cash flows from operations. If the Company is not able to access capital at competitive rates, the ability to implement business plans, make capital expenditures or pursue acquisitions the Company would otherwise rely on for future growth may be adversely affected. Market disruptions may increase the cost of borrowing or adversely affect the Company's ability to access one or more financial markets. Such disruptions could include: A items such as a significant economic downturn, the deterioration in of capital market conditions, Turmoil in the financial services industry, Volatility in commodity prices, increased trade tariffs and trade disputes with other countries, supply chain weaknesses, Pandemics, War, natural disasters, war, Terrorist attacks and Cyberattacks. The Company's inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy or refinance its debt obligations could adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations, and other corporate requirements. This could require the Company to direct a substantial portion of its future cash flow toward payments on its indebtedness, which would reduce the amount of cash flow available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, and the other corporate requirements Company's common stock, whether issued in connection thereby limiting its ability to respond to business opportunities. If the Company does not comply with its financial covenants and does not obtain a waiver or amendment from its lenders, the lenders may elect to cause any amounts then owed to become immediately due and payable, not fund any new borrowing, or they may decline to renew the Company's credit facility. In that event, the Company would seek to establish a replacement credit facility with one or more other lenders, including lenders with which it has an existing relationship acquisition or otherwise, or the perception potentially on less desirable terms. There can be no guarantee that replacement financing such an issuance could be available at commercially reasonable terms, if at all could have a dilutive effect on stockholders and/or may adversely affect the market price of the Company's common stock. Higher interest rates on borrowings have impacted and could further impact the Company's future operating results, as evidenced by the Company's increased interest expense in 2023 as discussed in Item 7 MD & A. Financial market changes could impact The issuance of a substantial amount of the Company's pension common stock, whether issued in connection with and an acquisition postretirement benefit plans and obligations. The Company has pension and postretirement defined benefit plans for or otherwise some of its current and former employees. Assumptions

regarding future costs, would returns on investments, interest rates and other actuarial assumptions have a dilutive effect on stockholders, and such an issuance, or perception that such an issuance may occur, could adversely affect the market price of the Company's common stock. The Company's stock price may be volatile and the value of its common stock may decline. The market price of the Company's common stock may be volatile and may fluctuate or decline as a result of a variety of factors, some of which are beyond its control, including without limitation actual or anticipated fluctuations in its financial condition or results of operations; variance in its financial performance from the expectations of securities analysts which may result in securities analysts issuing unfavorable research about the Company; changes in the Company's projected operating and financial results; significant data breaches; material litigation; future sales of impact on the funding requirements and expense recorded relating to these -- the plans. Adverse Company's common stock by the Company or its stockholders, or the perception that such sales may occur; changes in senior management or key personnel; the trading volume of the Company's common stock; changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of its service territories; and general macroeconomic, geopolitical, and market conditions beyond the Company's control. Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic indicators, political, regulatory, and market conditions, such as recessions consumer spending, or inflation data, interest rate changes, may also political developments and threats of terrorism, among other things, can create volatility in the financial markets. These changes could impact the assumptions and negatively affect the value market price of assets held in the Company's pension and common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of other -- their postretirement benefit plans and securities have been subject to securities class action litigation. The Company may be increase the amount and accelerate the timing of required funding contributions for those -- the plans target of this type of litigation in the future, which could result in substantial expenses and divert management's attention. Significant changes in prices for commodities, labor or other production and delivery inputs and other environmental compliance costs could negatively affect the Company's businesses. The Company's operations are exposed to fluctuations in prices for labor, oil petroleum products, raw materials and utilities services. Prices are generally subject to change in response to fluctuations in supply and demand and other general economic and market conditions beyond the Company's control. Fluctuations in oil and natural gas production, supplies and prices; fluctuations in commodity price basis differentials; political and economic conditions in oil-producing countries; actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries; demand for oil due to economic conditions; war and other external factors impact the development of oil and natural gas supplies and the expansion and operation of natural gas pipeline systems. The Company has benefited from associated natural gas production in the Bakken, which has provided opportunities for organic growth projects. Depressed oil and natural gas prices --; however, place pressure on the ability of oil exploration and production companies to meet credit requirements and can be a challenge if prices remain depressed long-term. Prolonged depressed prices for oil and natural gas could negatively affect the growth, results of operations, cash flows and asset values of the Company's electric, natural gas and pipeline businesses. 22 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K If oil and natural gas prices increase significantly, which has occurred and may reoccur, customer demand could decline for utility -- and pipeline and construction services, which could impact the Company's results of operations and cash flows. While the Company has fuel clause recovery mechanisms for its utility operations in all of the states where it operates, higher utility fuel costs could also significantly impact results of operations if such costs are not recovered. Delays in the collection of utility fuel cost recoveries, as compared to expenditures for fuel purchases, could also negatively impact the Company's cash flows. Increased labor costs, due to labor shortages, competition from other industries, or other factors, could negatively affect the Company's results of operations. 20 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K In 2024, 2023 -- and 2022 and 2021, the Company experienced elevated commodity and supply chain costs including the costs of labor, raw materials, energy-related products and other inputs used in the production and distribution of its products and services. If environmental compliance The Company's construction business tries to mitigate some or all cost costs increases -- increase significantly through increases in selling prices, customer demand could decline maintaining positive relationships with numerous raw material suppliers, and escalation clauses in contracting services contracts and fuel surcharges. To the extent price increases or for other -- the mitigating factors natural gas distribution segment, which could impact the Company's results of operations and cash flows. While the Company has environmental compliance recovery mechanisms, higher costs could also significantly impact results of operations if such costs are not sufficient to offset recovered. Delays in these -- the increased collection of environmental compliance costs adequately, as compared to expenditures or for timely environmental compliance costs, and/or if could also negatively impact the price increases result in a significant decrease in sales volumes, the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Company's operations could be negatively impacted by import tariffs and / or other government mandates. The Company operates in or provides services to capital intensive industries in which federal trade policies could significantly impact the availability and cost of materials. Imposed and proposed tariffs could significantly increase the prices and delivery lead times on raw materials and finished products that are critical to the Company and its customers. Prolonged lead times on the delivery of raw materials and further tariff increases on raw materials and finished products could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. Reductions in the Company's credit ratings could increase financing costs. There is no assurance the Company's current credit ratings, or those of its subsidiaries, will remain in effect or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn by a rating agency. Events affecting the Company's financial results may impact its cash flows and credit metrics, potentially resulting in a change in the Company's credit ratings. The Company's credit ratings may also change as a result of the differing methodologies or changes in the methodologies used by the rating agencies. Increasing costs associated with health care plans and changes in employment laws or regulations may adversely affect the Company's results of operations. The Company's self-insured costs of health care benefits for eligible employees continues to increase. Increasing quantities of large individual health care claims and an overall increase in total health care claims could have an adverse impact on operating

results, financial position and liquidity. **Complying with any new Legislation legislation and regulation at both the federal and state level** related to health care, **unemployment tax rates and workers' compensation rates, among others**, could also **adversely affect the Company's results of operations as well** change the Company's benefit program and costs. The Company is exposed to risk of loss resulting from the nonpayment and / or nonperformance by the Company's customers and counterparties. If the Company's customers or counterparties experience financial difficulties, which has occurred and may reoccur in the future, the Company could experience difficulty in collecting receivables. Nonpayment and / or nonperformance by the Company's customers and counterparties, particularly customers and counterparties of the Company's pipeline **and construction services businesses -- business for large construction projects**, could have a negative impact on the Company's results of operations and cash flows. The Company could also have indirect credit risk from participating in energy markets such as MISO in which credit losses are socialized to all participants. Changes in tax law **and other regulations** may negatively affect the Company's business. Changes to federal, state and local tax laws have the ability to benefit or adversely affect the Company's earnings and customer costs. Significant changes to corporate tax rates could result in the impairment of deferred tax assets that are established based on existing law at the time of deferral. **The U. S. administration has introduced uncertainty regarding the continuation of the IRA and a potential shift in federal energy policies regarding clean energy projects.** Changes **to-in regulations that impact** the value of various tax credits, **including production tax credits** could change the economics of resources and the resource selection **could impact current and / or future projects** for the electric generation business **and the development of other renewable energy projects, such as RNG. Such actions could adversely affect the Company's ability to secure tax credits and other incentives that support the development of renewable energy projects.** Regulation incorporates changes in tax law into the rate- setting process for the regulated energy delivery businesses, which could create timing delays before the impact of changes are realized. **Financial market changes** The Company's operations could be negatively impacted -- **impact by import tariffs the Company's pension and /-postretirement benefit plans and obligations. The Company has pension and postretirement defined benefit plans or for some of its current and former employees. Assumptions regarding future costs, returns on investments, interest rates and other actuarial assumptions have a** government mandates. The Company operates in or provides services to capital intensive industries in which federal trade policies could significantly -- **significant** impact the availability and cost of materials. Imposed and proposed tariffs could significantly increase the prices and delivery lead times on raw materials **the funding requirements and expense recorded relating** finished products that are critical to the **these** Company and its customers **plans. Adverse changes in economic indicators**, such as **consumer spending** aluminum and steel. Prolonged lead times on the delivery of raw materials and further tariff increases on raw materials and finished products could adversely affect the Company's business, **inflation data** financial condition and results of operations. Pandemics may have a negative impact on the Company's business operations, revenues **interest rate changes**, **political developments** results of operations, liquidity and **threats of terrorism** cash flows. Pandemics have disrupted national, state and local economies. To the extent pandemics adversely impact the Company's businesses, operations, revenues, liquidity or cash flows, they could also have a heightened effect on other risks described in this section. The degree to which pandemics impact the Company depends on, among other things, **federal can create volatility in the financial markets. These changes could impact the assumptions** and state mandates, actions taken by governmental authorities, availability, **negatively affect the value of assets held in the Company's pension and other postretirement benefit plans and may increase the amount and accelerate the** timing and effectiveness of **required funding** vaccines being administered, and the pace and extent to which the economy recovers and operates under normal market conditions **contributions for those plans**. MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K 23-21

Operational Risks Significant portions of the Company's natural gas pipelines and power generation and transmission facilities are aging. The aging infrastructure may require significant additional maintenance or replacement that could adversely affect the Company's results of operations. Certain risks increase as the Company's energy delivery infrastructure ages, including breakdown or failure of equipment, pipeline leaks and fires developing from power lines, all of which have occurred and may reoccur in the future resulting in material costs. Aging infrastructure is more prone to failure, which increases maintenance costs, unplanned outages and the need to replace facilities. Even if properly maintained, reliability may ultimately deteriorate and negatively affect the Company's ability to serve its customers, which could result in increased costs associated with regulatory oversight. The costs associated with **compliance with PHMSA rules related to pipeline integrity and other similar programs**, maintaining the aging infrastructure and capital expenditures for new or replacement infrastructure could cause rate volatility and / or regulatory lag in some jurisdictions. If, at the end of its life, the investment costs of a facility have not been fully recovered, the Company may be adversely affected if commissions do not allow such costs to be recovered in rates. Such impacts of aging infrastructure could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, hazards from aging infrastructure could result in serious injury, loss of human life, significant damage to property, environmental impacts and impairment of operations, which in turn could lead to substantial financial losses. The location of facilities near populated areas, including residential areas, business centers, industrial sites and other public gathering places, could increase the damages resulting from these risks. A major incident involving another natural gas system could lead to additional capital expenditures, increased regulation, and fines and penalties on natural gas utilities and pipelines. The occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Company's utility and pipeline operations are subject to planning risks. Most electric and natural gas utility investments, including natural gas transmission pipeline investments, are made with the intent of being used for decades. In particular, electric transmission and generation resources are planned well in advance of when they are placed into service based upon resource plans using assumptions over the planning horizon, including sales growth, commodity prices, equipment and construction costs, regulatory treatment, available technology and public policy. Public policy changes and technology advancements related to areas, such as energy efficient appliances and buildings, renewable and distributive electric generation and storage, carbon dioxide emissions, electric vehicle

penetration, restrictions on or disallowance of new or existing services, and natural gas availability and cost may significantly impact the planning assumptions. Changes in critical planning assumptions may result in excess generation, transmission and distribution resources creating increased per customer costs and downward pressure on load growth. These changes could also result in a stranded investment if the Company is unable to fully recover the costs of its investments . **The Company's inability to implement its long- term strategic plan may adversely affect future results. The Company's ability to successfully implement and execute its long- term strategic plan is dependent on many factors. The Company's strategies may require significant capital investment and management attention. If the Company cannot successfully execute its strategic growth initiatives or if the long- term plan does not adequately address the challenges or opportunities the Company faces, its financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. Additionally, failure to meet stockholder expectations, particularly with respect to financials, cost- cutting programs, operating margins, and earnings per share, could result in volatility in the market value of the Company's stock** .

The regulatory approval, permitting, construction, startup and / or operation of pipelines, power generation and transmission facilities may involve unanticipated events, delays and unrecoverable costs. The construction, startup and operation of natural gas pipelines and electric power generation and transmission facilities involve many risks, which may include delays; breakdown or failure of equipment; inability to obtain required governmental permits and approvals; inability to obtain or renew easements; public opposition; inability to complete financing; inability to negotiate acceptable equipment acquisition, construction, fuel supply, off- take, transmission, transportation or other material agreements; contractor performance failures; changes in markets and market prices for power; cost increases and overruns; the risk of performance below expected levels of output or efficiency; and the inability to obtain full cost recovery in regulated rates. Such unanticipated events could negatively impact the Company's business, its results of operations and cash flows. Operating or other costs required to comply with current or potential pipeline safety regulations and potential new regulations under various agencies could be significant. The regulations require verification of pipeline infrastructure records by pipeline owners and operators to confirm the maximum allowable operating pressure of certain lines. Increased emphasis on pipeline safety and increased regulatory scrutiny may result in penalties and higher costs of operations. If these costs are not fully recoverable from customers, they could have an adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and cash flows. ~~The backlog at the Company's construction services business may not accurately represent future revenue. Backlog consists of the uncompleted portion of services to be performed under job- specific contracts. Contracts are subject to delay, default or cancellation, and contracts in the Company's backlog are subject to changes in the scope of services to be provided, as well as adjustments to the costs relating to the applicable contracts. Backlog may also be affected by project delays or cancellations resulting from weather conditions, external market factors and economic factors beyond the Company's control, among other things. Accordingly, there is no assurance that backlog will be realized. The timing of contract awards, duration of large new contracts and the mix of services can significantly affect backlog. Backlog at any given point in time may not accurately represent the revenue or net income that is realized in any period. Also, the backlog as of the end of the year may not be indicative of the revenue and net income expected to be earned in the following year and should not be relied upon as a stand- alone indicator of future revenues or net income. The Company's participation in joint venture contracts may have a negative impact on its reputation, business operations, revenues, results of operations, liquidity and cash flows. The Company enters into certain joint venture arrangements typically to bid and execute particular projects. Generally, these agreements are directly with a third- party client; however, services may be performed by the venture, the joint venture partners or a combination thereof. Engaging in joint venture contracts exposes the Company to risks and uncertainties, some of which are outside the Company's control.~~ 24 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K The Company is reliant on joint venture partners to satisfy their contractual obligations, including obligations to commit working capital and equity, and to perform the work as outlined in the agreement. Failure to do so could result in the Company providing additional investments or services to address such performance issues. If the Company is unable to satisfactorily resolve any partner performance issues, the customer could terminate the contract, opening the Company to legal liability which could negatively impact the Company's reputation, revenues, results of operations, liquidity and cash flows. Supply chain disruptions may adversely affect Company operations. The Company relies on third- party vendors and manufacturers to supply many of the materials necessary for its operations. Global logistic disruptions have impacted the flow of materials and restricted global trade flows. Manufacturers are competing for a limited supply of key commodities and logistical capacity which has impacted lead times, pricing, supply and demand. Disruptions or delays in receiving materials; price increases from suppliers or manufacturers; or inability to source needed materials, which ~~has have~~ occurred and could reoccur, could adversely affect the Company's **capital expenditure programs, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows** . 22 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K **Joint ownership of coal- fired generation facilities could impact the Company's ability to manage changing regulations and economic conditions. The Company has an ownership interest in three coal- fired electric generating facilities jointly with other co- owners who have varying ownership interests in the facilities. The Company's ability to make determinations on changing environmental regulations and economic conditions may be impacted by its rights and obligations under the co- ownership agreements and related agreements. Such a determination could impact the Company's ability to effectively manage these changing conditions to meet its strategic objectives and could adversely impact its financial condition, results of operations and liquidity** .

**Environmental and Regulatory Risks** The Company's operations could be adversely impacted by ~~climate change~~ **severe weather** . Severe weather events, such as tornadoes, ~~hurricanes~~ **fires** , rain, drought, ice and snowstorms, and high and low temperature extremes, occur in regions in which the Company operates and maintains infrastructure. Climate change could change the frequency and severity of these weather events, which may create physical and financial risks to the Company. Such risks could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. ~~To date, the Company has not experienced any material impacts to its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows due to the physical effects of climate change.~~ Severe weather events may damage or disrupt

the Company's electric and natural gas transmission and distribution facilities, which could result in disruption of service and ability to meet customer demand and increase maintenance or capital costs to repair facilities and restore customer service. The cost of providing service could increase if the frequency of severe weather events increases because of climate change or otherwise. The Company may not recover all costs related to mitigating these physical risks. ~~Increases in severe weather conditions or extreme temperatures may cause infrastructure construction projects to be delayed or canceled and limit resources available for such projects resulting in decreased revenue or increased project costs at the construction services business.~~ Utility customers' energy needs vary with weather conditions, primarily temperature and humidity. For residential customers, heating and cooling represent the largest energy use. To the extent weather conditions are affected by climate change, customers' energy use could increase or decrease. Increased energy use by its utility customers due to weather may require the Company to invest in additional generating assets, transmission and other infrastructure to serve increased load. Decreased energy use due to weather may result in decreased revenues. Extreme weather conditions, such as uncommonly long periods of high or low ambient temperature in general require more system backup, adding to costs, and can contribute to increased system stress, including service interruptions. Weather conditions outside of the Company's service territory could also have an impact on revenues. The Company buys and sells electricity that might be generated outside its service territory, depending upon system needs and market opportunities. Extreme temperatures may create high energy demand and raise electricity prices, which could increase the cost of energy provided to customers. Climate change may impact a region's economic health, which could impact revenues at all of the Company's businesses. The Company's financial performance is tied to the health of the regional economies served. The Company provides natural gas and electric utility service, ~~as well as construction services,~~ for some states and communities that are economically affected by the agriculture industry. Increases in severe weather events or significant changes in temperature and precipitation patterns could adversely affect the agriculture industry and, correspondingly, the economies of the states and communities affected by that industry. The insurance industry may be adversely affected by severe weather events, which may impact availability of insurance coverage, insurance premiums and insurance policy terms. The Company may be subject to litigation related to climate change. Costs of such litigation could be significant, and an adverse outcome could require substantial capital expenditures, changes in operations and possible payment of penalties or damages, which could affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows if the costs are not recoverable in rates. The price of energy also has an impact on the economic health of communities. The cost of additional regulatory requirements related to climate change, such as regulation of carbon dioxide emissions under the federal Clean Air Act, requirements to replace fossil fuels with renewable energy or credits, or other environmental regulation or taxes, could impact the availability of goods and the prices charged by suppliers, which would normally be borne by consumers through higher prices for energy and purchased goods, and could adversely impact economic conditions of areas served by the Company. To the extent financial markets view climate change and emissions of GHGs as a financial risk, this could negatively affect the Company's ability to access capital markets or result in less competitive terms and conditions. MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K 25-23 The Company's operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations that may increase costs of operations, impact or limit business plans, or expose the Company to environmental liabilities. The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations affecting many aspects of its operations, including air and water quality, wastewater discharge, the generation, transmission and disposal of solid waste and hazardous substances, and other environmental considerations. These laws and regulations can increase capital, operating and other costs; cause delays as a result of litigation and administrative proceedings; and create compliance, remediation, containment, monitoring and reporting obligations; ~~particularly relating to electric generation, and natural gas transmission and storage operations.~~ Environmental laws and regulations can also require the Company to install pollution control equipment at its facilities, clean up spills and other contamination and correct environmental hazards, including payment of all or part of the cost to remediate sites where the Company's past activities, or the activities of other parties, caused environmental contamination. These laws and regulations generally require the Company to obtain and comply with a variety of environmental licenses, permits, inspections and other approvals and may cause the Company to shut down existing facilities due to difficulties in assuring compliance or where the cost of compliance makes operation of the facilities uneconomical. Although the Company strives to comply with all applicable environmental laws and regulations, public and private entities and private individuals may interpret the Company's legal or regulatory requirements differently and seek injunctive relief or other remedies against the Company. The Company cannot predict the outcome, financial or operational, of any such litigation or administrative proceedings. Existing environmental laws and regulations may be revised and new laws and regulations seeking to protect the environment **have been adopted such as the Climate Commitment Act in Washington and the Climate Protection Program Rule in Oregon, requiring natural gas distribution companies to reduce overall GHG emissions, and the EPA's Coal Combustion Residuals Rule, potentially requiring additional management and remediation of electric generation coal ash facilities, and other future rules** may be adopted or become applicable to the Company. These laws and **other** regulations could require the Company to limit the use or output of certain facilities; restrict the use of certain fuels; prohibit or restrict new or existing services; replace certain fuels with renewable fuels; retire and replace certain facilities; install pollution controls; remediate environmental impacts; remove or reduce environmental hazards; or forego or limit the development of resources. Revised or new laws and regulations that increase compliance and disclosure costs and / or restrict operations, particularly if costs are not fully recoverable from customers, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows. Stakeholder actions and increased regulatory activity related to **ESG environmental, social and governance** matters, particularly climate change and reducing GHG emissions, could adversely impact the Company's operations, costs of or access to capital and impact or limit business plans. The Company **has faced**, primarily at its electric, natural gas distribution and **may continue to face** pipeline businesses, **is facing increasing** stakeholder scrutiny related to **ESG environmental, social and governance** matters. The Company has seen a rise in certain **Certain** stakeholders **of the Company**, such as investors, customers, employees and lenders, placing increasing

importance on **have increased their scrutiny of** the impacts and social cost associated with **ESG matters, including** climate change. Concern that GHG emissions contribute to global climate change has led to international, federal, state and local legislative and regulatory proposals to reduce or mitigate the effects of GHG emissions. ~~For example, the SEC has published proposed rules that would require significantly increased disclosures associated with climate change and other issues.~~ The Company may experience significant future costs associated with compliance of such legislative actions. The Company's primary GHG emission is carbon dioxide from fossil fuels combustion at Montana- Dakota's electric generating facilities, particularly its **jointly owned** coal- fired facilities. Treaties, legislation or regulations to reduce GHG emissions in response to climate change may be adopted ~~that and can~~ affect the Company's **utility and pipeline** operations by requiring additional energy conservation efforts or renewable energy sources, limiting emissions, imposing carbon taxes or other compliance costs; as well as other mandates that could significantly increase capital expenditures and operating costs or reduce demand for the Company's ~~utility~~ services. If the Company's utility and pipeline operations do not receive timely and full recovery of GHG emission compliance costs from customers, then such costs could adversely impact the results of operations and cash flows. Significant reductions in demand for the Company's ~~utility and pipeline~~ services as a result of increased costs or emissions limitations could also adversely impact the results of operations and cash flows. ~~The Company monitors, analyzes and reports GHG emissions from its other operations as required by applicable laws and regulations. The Company will continue to monitor GHG regulations and their potential impact on operations.~~ Due to the uncertain availability of technologies to control GHG emissions and the unknown obligations that potential GHG emission legislation or regulations may create, the Company cannot determine the potential financial impact on its operations. In addition, ~~the increasing~~ **any increased** focus on climate change and stricter regulatory requirements may result in the Company facing adverse reputational risks associated with certain of its operations producing GHG emissions. There have also been efforts to discourage the investment community from investing in equity and debt securities of companies engaged in fossil fuel related business and pressuring lenders to limit funding to such companies. Additionally, some insurance carriers have indicated an unwillingness to insure assets and operations related to certain fossil fuels. ~~If Although the Company has not experienced difficulties in these areas, if~~ the Company is unable to satisfy the ~~increasing~~ climate- related expectations of certain stakeholders, the Company may suffer reputational harm, which may cause its stock price to decrease or difficulty in accessing the capital or insurance markets. Such efforts, if successfully directed at the Company, could increase the costs of or access to capital or insurance and interfere with business operations and ability to make capital expenditures. **26 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K** Other Risks The Company's ~~various~~ businesses are seasonal and subject to weather conditions that could adversely affect the Company's operations, revenues and cash flows. The Company's results of operations could be affected by changes in the weather. Weather conditions influence the demand for electricity and natural gas and affect the price of energy commodities. Utility operations have historically generated lower revenues when weather conditions are cooler than normal in the summer and warmer than normal in the winter, particularly in jurisdictions that do not have weather normalization mechanisms in place. Where weather normalization mechanisms are in place, there is no assurance the Company will continue to receive such regulatory protection from adverse weather in future rates. **24 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K** Adverse weather conditions, which have occurred and may reoccur, such as heavy or sustained rainfall or snowfall, droughts, storms, wind and colder weather may ~~affect the demand for products and the ability to perform services at the construction business and~~ affect ongoing operation and maintenance and construction activities for the electric and natural gas transmission and distribution businesses. In addition, severe weather can be destructive, causing outages and property damage, which could require additional remediation costs. As a result, unusual or adverse weather conditions could negatively affect the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows. Competition exists in all of the Company's businesses. The Company's businesses are subject to competition. ~~Construction services' competition is based primarily on price and reputation for quality, safety and reliability.~~ The electric utility and natural gas businesses also experience competitive pressures as a result of consumer demands, technological advances and other factors. The pipeline business competes with several pipelines for access to natural gas supplies and for transportation and storage business. New acquisition opportunities are subject to competitive bidding environments which impact prices the Company must pay to successfully acquire new properties and acquisition opportunities to grow its business. The Company's failure to effectively compete could negatively affect the Company's results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Company's operations may be negatively affected if it is unable to obtain, develop and retain key personnel and skilled labor forces. The Company must attract, develop and retain executive officers and other professional, technical and skilled labor forces with the skills and experience necessary to successfully manage, operate and grow the Company's businesses. Due to the changing workforce ~~demographics dynamics and~~ **an a lack insufficient number** of younger employees who are **applicants** to replace **skilled** employees as they retire and remote work opportunities, among other things, competition for these employees is high. In some cases competition for these employees is on a regional or national basis. At times of low unemployment, it can be difficult for the Company to attract and retain qualified and affordable personnel. A shortage in the supply of ~~skilled~~ personnel creates competitive hiring markets, increased labor expenses, decreased productivity and potentially lost business opportunities to support the Company's operating and growth strategies. **The Company is subject to risks associated with labor disputes or prolonged negotiation processes, which could disrupt operations and increase costs.** Additionally, if the Company is unable to hire employees with the requisite skills, the Company may be forced to incur significant training expenses. As a result, the Company's ability to maintain productivity, relationships with customers, competitive costs, and quality services is limited by the ability to employ, retain and train the necessary ~~skilled~~ personnel and could negatively affect the Company's results of operations, financial position ~~and cash flows.~~ ~~The Company's construction services business may be exposed to warranty claims. The Company, particularly its construction services business, may provide warranties guaranteeing the work performed against defects in workmanship and material. If warranty claims occur, they may require the Company to re- perform the services or to repair or replace the warranted item at a cost to the Company and could~~

also result in other damages if the Company is not able to adequately satisfy warranty obligations. In addition, the Company may be required under contractual arrangements with customers to warrant any defects from subcontractors or failures in materials the Company purchased from third parties. While the Company generally requires suppliers to provide warranties that are consistent with those the Company provides to customers, if any of the suppliers default on their warranty obligations to the Company, the Company may nonetheless incur costs to repair or replace the defective materials. Costs incurred as a result of warranty claims could adversely affect the Company's results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The Company is a holding company and relies on cash from its subsidiaries to pay dividends. The Company's investments in its subsidiaries comprise the Company's primary assets. The Company depends on earnings, cash flows and dividends from its subsidiaries to pay dividends on its common stock. Regulatory, contractual and legal limitations, as well as their capital requirements, affect the ability of the subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company and thereby could restrict or influence the Company's ability or decision to pay dividends on its common stock, which could adversely affect the Company's stock price. **MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K 25** Costs related to obligations under a MEPPs- MEPP could have a material negative effect on the Company's results of operations and cash flows. Various An operating subsidiaries subsidiary of the Company participate participates in a MEPPs- MEPP for employees represented by certain a unions- union. The Company is required to make contributions to these this plans- plan in amounts established under numerous the collective bargaining agreements- agreement between the operating subsidiaries subsidiary and those- the unions- union. The Company may be obligated to increase its contributions- contribution to the plan if it becomes underfunded and is plans that are classified as being in endangered, seriously endangered or critical status as defined by the Pension Protection Act of 2006. Plans classified as being in one of these statuses are required to adopt RPs or FIPs to improve their funded status through increased contributions, reduced benefits or a combination of the two. MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10- K 27 The Company may also be required to increase its contributions to MEPPs if the other participating employers in such plans withdraw from the plans- plan and are not able unable to contribute sufficient amounts sufficient to fund the unfunded liabilities associated with their participation in the plans. The amount and timing of any increase in the Company's required contributions to MEPPs may depend upon one or more factors, including the outcome of collective bargaining; actions taken by the trustees- trustee who manage the plans; actions taken by the plans- plan's other participating employers; the industry for which contributions are made; future determinations of that additional plans- plan reach endangered, seriously endangered or critical status; and newly enacted government laws or and regulations and the actual return on assets held in the plans; among others. The Company could experience increased operating expenses as a result of required contributions to the MEPPs- MEPP, which could have an adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial position or cash flows. In addition, pursuant to ERISA, as amended by MPPAA, the Company could incur a partial or complete withdrawal liability upon withdrawing from a the plan, exiting a market in which it does business with a union workforce or upon termination of a plan. The Company could also incur an additional withdrawal liability if its withdrawal from a the plan is determined by that plan to be part of a mass withdrawal.

**The Company may face risks associated with stockholder activism. Publicly- traded companies are subject to campaigns by stockholders advocating corporate actions related to matters, such as corporate governance, operational practices, and strategic direction. The Company has, and may again in the future, become subject in the future to such stockholder activity and demands. Such activities could interfere with its ability to execute its business plans, affect the allocation of capital, be costly and time- consuming, disrupt operations, and divert the attention of management, any of which could have an adverse effect on the Company's business or stock price.** Technology disruptions or cyberattacks could adversely impact the Company's operations. The Company uses technology in substantially all aspects of its business operations and requires uninterrupted operation of information technology and operation technology systems, including disaster recovery and backup systems and network infrastructure. While the Company has policies, procedures and processes in place designed to strengthen and protect these These systems, they may be vulnerable to physical and cybersecurity failures or unauthorized access, due to: hacking, human error, theft, sabotage, malicious software, ransomware, third- party compromise, acts of terrorism, acts of war, acts of nature or other causes. Although there are manual processes in place, should Should a

compromise or system failure occur, interdependencies to technology may disrupt the Company's ability to fulfill critical business functions. This may include interruption of electric generation, transmission and distribution facilities, natural gas storage and pipeline facilities, any of which could adversely affect the Company's reputation, business, cash flows and results of operations or subject the Company to legal or regulatory liabilities and increased costs. **Litigation expenses and damages for such an event can be significant.** Additionally, the Company's electric generation and transmission systems and natural gas pipelines are part of interconnected systems with other operators' facilities; therefore, a cyber- related disruption in another operator's system could negatively impact the Company's business. The Company's accounting systems and its ability to collect information and invoice customers for products and services could be disrupted. If the Company's operations are disrupted, it could result in decreased revenues and remediation costs that could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and cash flows. The Company is subject to cybersecurity and privacy laws, regulations and security directives of many government agencies, including TSA, FERC and NERC. NERC issues comprehensive regulations and standards surrounding the security of bulk power systems and continually updates these requirements, as well as establishing new requirements with which the utility industry must comply. As these regulations evolve, the Company may experience increased compliance costs and may be at higher risk for violating these standards. Experiencing a cybersecurity incident could cause the Company to be non- compliant with applicable laws and regulations, causing the Company to incur costs related to legal claims, proceedings and regulatory fines or penalties. The SEC has adopted new rules that require the Company to provide greater disclosures around cybersecurity risk management, strategy, and governance, as well as disclose the occurrence of material cybersecurity incidents. The Company cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs it will incur in order to comply with these rules or the timing of such costs. These rules may also require the Company to report a cybersecurity incident before

the Company has been able to fully assess its impact or remediate the underlying issue. Efforts to comply with such reporting requirements could divert management' s attention from the Company' s incident response and could potentially reveal system vulnerabilities to threat actors. Failure to timely report incidents under these or other similar rules could also result in monetary fines, sanctions or subject the Company to other forms of liability. This regulatory environment is increasingly challenging and may present material obligations and risks to the Company' s business, including significantly expanded compliance burdens, costs, and enforcement risks. ~~28 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K~~ The Company, through the ordinary course of business, requires access to sensitive customer, supplier, employee and Company data. ~~A While the Company has implemented extensive security measures, including limiting the amount of sensitive information retained, a breach of its the Company' s systems could compromise sensitive data and could go unnoticed for some time. Such an event could result in negative publicity and reputational harm, remediation costs, legal claims and fines that could have an adverse effect on the Company' s financial results. Third- party service providers that perform critical business functions for the Company or have access to sensitive information within the Company also may be vulnerable to security breaches and information technology risks that could adversely affect the Company.~~ **26 MDU Resources Group, Inc. Form 10-K** The Company' s information systems experience ongoing and often sophisticated cyberattacks by a variety of sources with the apparent aim to breach the Company' s cyber- defenses. The Company may face increased cyber risk due to the increased use of employee- owned devices, work from home arrangements, and the separation of **Everus Knife River**. ~~Although the incidents the Company has experienced to date have not had a material effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations, such~~ **Such** incidents could have a material adverse effect in the future as cyberattacks continue to increase in frequency and sophistication. The Company is continuously reevaluating the need to upgrade and / or replace systems and network infrastructure. These upgrades and / or replacements could adversely impact operations by imposing substantial capital expenditures, creating delays or outages, or experiencing difficulties transitioning to new systems. System disruptions, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could adversely affect the Company. Artificial intelligence presents challenges that can impact ~~our the Company' s~~ business by posing security risks to confidential or proprietary information and personal data ~~–The use of artificial intelligence, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability, or other adverse consequences to our~~ business operations. The Company **has, and may again in the future,** adopt and integrate **certain** artificial intelligence tools into its systems for specific use cases ~~after review by legal and information security~~. The Company' s vendors and third- party partners may incorporate artificial intelligence tools into their offerings with or without disclosing this use to ~~us the Company~~. The providers of these artificial intelligence tools may not meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards concerning privacy and data protection, which may result in a loss of intellectual property or confidential information and / or cause harm to the Company' s reputation and the public perception of the effectiveness of its security measures. Further, bad actors around the world use increasingly sophisticated methods, including ~~the use of~~ artificial intelligence, to engage in illegal activities involving the theft and misuse of personal information, confidential information, and intellectual property. Any of these outcomes could damage the Company' s reputation, result in the loss of valuable property and information and adversely impact its business. **General Pandemics may have a negative impact on the Company' s business operations, revenues, results of operations, liquidity and cash flows. Pandemics have disrupted national, state and local economies in the past and may again in the future. To the extent pandemics adversely impact the Company' s businesses, operations, revenues, liquidity or cash flows, they could also have a heightened effect of other risk risks factors . The degree to which pandemics impact the Company depends on, among other things, federal, state and local mandates, actions taken by governmental authorities, availability, timing and effectiveness of vaccines being administered, and the pace and extent to which the economy recovers and operates under normal market conditions. Separation Risks If the completed separations of Knife River or Everus, together with certain related transactions, were to fail to qualify as transactions that could impact the Company' s businesses. The following are additional factors a transaction that is generally tax- free for U.S.federal income tax purposes,the Company and its stockholders could be subject to significant tax liabilities.The Company completed the separation separations of Knife River and Everus on May 31,2023 ,and October 31,2024,respectively .In connection with the completed separation separations of Knife River,the Company received a private letter ruling rulings from the IRS and opinion (s) of outside counsel regarding the qualification of certain elements of the separation separations and distribution distributions under Section 355 (a) of the Code.Notwithstanding prior receipt of the IRS private letter ruling rulings and opinion (s) of tax advisors,the IRS could determine that that the completed distributions and / or certain related transactions should be considered treated as taxable transactions for U.S.federal income tax purposes if it determines that any of the representations,assumptions,or undertakings upon which the IRS private letter ruling rulings or the opinion (s) of tax advisors were based are false or have been violated.In addition,neither the IRS private letter ruling rulings nor opinion (s) of tax advisors will address all of the issues that are relevant to determining whether the distribution distributions, together with certain related transactions, qualifies as a transaction transactions that is are generally tax- free for U.S.federal income tax purposes.Further,opinion (s) of tax advisors represent the judgment of such tax advisors and are not binding on the IRS or any court,and the IRS or a court may disagree with the conclusions in the opinion (s) of tax advisors. Accordingly, notwithstanding receipt by the Company of the IRS private letter ruling rulings and the opinion (s) of tax advisors, the there risks to can be no assurance that the IRS will not Company. These factors may negatively impact the Company' s financial results in future periods. • Acquisition, disposal and impairments of assets- assert that or facilities. • Changes in present or prospective electric generation. • Population decline and demographic patterns in the distributions and / or Company' s areas of service. • The cyclical nature of large construction projects at certain operations. • Labor negotiations related transactions do not qualify or for disputes tax- free treatment for U . S • Succession planning. • Attracting and retaining employees federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. • In the event the IRS were to prevail in such challenge, the Company and its Stockholder stockholders could be subject and environmental**

activism. • Inability of contract counterparties to **significant U** meet their contractual obligations. • The **S. federal income tax** inability- **liability** to effectively integrate the operations and the internal controls of acquired companies.